

# New Opportunities for Job Creation in Maryland's Life Sciences Industry

BY ALISSA DUBETZ, CHARLOTTE KESTEVEN, AND AARON MELAAS



## **ABOUT US**

#### About the Milken Institute

The Milken Institute is a nonprofit, nonpartisan think tank.

For the past three decades, the Milken Institute has served as a catalyst for practical, scalable solutions to global challenges by connecting human, financial, and educational resources to those who need them. Guided by a conviction that the best ideas, under-resourced, cannot succeed, we conduct research and analysis and convene top experts, innovators, and influencers from different backgrounds and competing viewpoints. We leverage this expertise and insight to construct programs and policy initiatives.

These activities are designed to help people build meaningful lives in which they can experience health and well-being, pursue effective education and gainful employment, and access the resources required to create ever-expanding opportunities for themselves and their broader communities

### **About the Center for Regional Economics**

The Milken Institute Center for Regional Economics produces research, programs, and events designed to inform and activate innovative economic and policy solutions to drive job creation and industry expansion.

©2021 Milken Institute

This work is made available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License, available at https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Introduction
Current Status of the Life Sciences Workforce4
Next Steps to Support Industry Job Creation
Grow the Talent Pipeline
Enhance the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem8
Final Considerations: A More Strategic Approach11
Endnotes
Acknowledgments
About the Authors

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Maryland has one of the nation's strongest life sciences industries. The state's array of universities, federal labs, and firms employ 54,000 people, generate breakthrough discoveries, and supply a range of technologies that have been key to the COVID-19 pandemic response. Despite Maryland's high concentration of employment in research and development (R&D), the sector's 7.4 percent growth between 2015 and 2020 trailed other leading states such as Massachusetts (58 percent) and North Carolina (38 percent). Beyond R&D employment, the state's life sciences manufacturing sector expanded at one of the fastest rates nationwide (31 percent), but remains relatively less concentrated than the national average, indicating significant potential for further growth. Maryland's life sciences industry also faces competition from other states for investment, particularly in entrepreneurs and startup firms that have the potential to sustain job creation across the state.

The state's existing policy architecture provides a foundation for state leaders to develop new, collaborative strategies among public, private, and non-profit actors that expand not only the total number of job opportunities but also their accessibility to state residents. Streamlining industry job creation could provide an incentive for employers to invest in creating more local jobs in these sectors and increase Maryland's attractiveness to venture capital.

To grow the talent pipeline and improve workforce development, programs are needed to inform and attract workers and equip them with the skills they need to perform these jobs. State leaders should:

- Collaborate on developing an industry-certified training curriculum that maximizes the number of workers capable of meeting existing industry needs and that prepares prospective employees for occupations with future growth potential, particularly jobs that do not require four-year degrees.
- Increase awareness of life sciences career opportunities for residents in more rural counties through industry skills training extension programs hosted by community colleges.
- Support dedicated training programs and facilities for advanced biomanufacturing, especially cell and gene therapies.

To enhance Maryland's entrepreneurial ecosystem and increase its attractiveness to venture capital, greater public-private cooperation is needed to make the state a place worth investing in, by providing an innovation-ready workforce and expanding access to physical infrastructure that can help entrepreneurs and startups move from R&D to development and testing. State leaders should:

- Evaluate the feasibility of matching private funds raised by institutions of higher education to establish technology incubators and provide early-stage companies with greater resources—particularly lab and manufacturing space—that will support local job creation. These efforts could parallel the Maryland E-Nnovation Initiative Fund's matching support for endowed university chairs.<sup>1</sup>
- Explore the viability of additional region-specific incentives targeting the conversion of existing commercial or industrial spaces for use in small-scale, modular life sciences manufacturing.

Maryland could also generate additional opportunities through the adoption of place-based investment strategies used in other states, such as an expansion of local manufacturing and improvements to career and technical education programs. A more cohesive strategy among industry, government, academic, and nonprofit leaders could enhance the life sciences industry's growth trajectory and further increase the number of job opportunities available to residents across the state.



## **INTRODUCTION**

Maryland is at the forefront in many areas of the national life sciences industry economy. The state is home to 2,700 life sciences firms and more than 500 biotech companies, and its 74 federal research labs—including the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)—and leading research universities deploy innovative research and entrepreneurial drive to generate technological breakthroughs. Maryland is also the cornerstone of the BioHealth Capital Region—a regional collaboration with Virginia and Washington, DC, to drive life sciences innovation and entrepreneurship—which was ranked No. 4 in the top biopharma clusters in the nation in 2021.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, the state has the world's largest cell therapy manufacturing facility and leads the world in adult stem cell production and vaccine research and development (R&D), with 20 percent of the world's top influencers in vaccine development.<sup>3</sup>

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, Maryland's leadership in the life sciences has become even more evident. The National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) in Bethesda received \$1.5 billion in federal funding to conduct research and clinical trials to develop treatments and vaccines.<sup>4</sup> The NIH Rapid Development of Diagnostics (RADx) initiative led development of new technologies for COVID-19 testing.<sup>5</sup> And experts at Johns Hopkins University in Baltimore have been at the forefront of data reporting and analysis. The BioHealth Capital Region received more than \$7 billion in total federal funding,<sup>6</sup> and five of the 10 funding recipients from Operation Warp Speed—the federal effort to speed the development and production of COVID-19 vaccines—are in the state.<sup>7</sup>

As R&D in the life sciences industry continues to expand the frontiers of human knowledge, the commercialization of new technologies also offers the potential to create new jobs. However, Maryland's employment in biotechnology R&D increased by 52 percent from 2015 to 2020, below the national growth rate of 60 percent during that period.<sup>8</sup> Despite playing a prominent role in the life sciences industry, Maryland faces increasing competition from other states for investment in R&D and particularly in manufacturing new technologies, from vaccines and gene and cell therapies to medical devices and tools for digital health. Consequently, any efforts for sustained job creation in the industry will require enhanced collaboration among public, private, and non-profit actors.

By harnessing its already substantial assets, Maryland can create new opportunities to enhance its life sciences industry leadership. Key components of a proactive approach include expanding the local talent pipeline, supporting the entrepreneurial ecosystem through greater public-private cooperation, and developing a strategy for place-based investment that generates new industry connections for communities across the state.

## CURRENT STATUS OF THE LIFE SCIENCES WORKFORCE

Maryland's life sciences industry has a substantial footprint, directly employing over 54,000 people across a wide range of jobs in R&D, manufacturing, and laboratories—more than the number of workers employed in the state's information or real estate industries.<sup>9</sup> Jobs in the scientific R&D sector account for roughly two-thirds of total industry employment, while job creation in the life sciences manufacturing sector registered the highest rate of growth from 2015 to 2020, as shown in **Table 1**.<sup>10</sup>

	2015		2020		EMPLOYMENT
INDUSTRY	Employment	Concentration*	Employment	Concentration*	GROWTH (PERCENT)
R&D in the Physical, Engineering, and Life Sciences	31,734	2.76	34,069	2.61	7.4
R&D in Biotechnology & Nanotechnology	8,002	2.72	12,150	2.66	51.8
All other R&D	23,732	2.79	21,917	2.60	-7.6
Life Sciences Manufacturing	9,262	0.77	12,104	0.95	30.7
Pharmaceutical & Medicine	7,278	1.40	9,593	1.69	31.8
Medical Equipment & Supplies	1,821	0.32	2,335	0.41	28.2
Electromedical & Electrotherapeutics	163	0.15	176	0.13	8.0
Life Sciences Laboratories	7,452	0.94	8,322	1.01	11.7
Medical & Diagnostic	5,632	1.16	6,325	1.24	12.3
Testing	1,820	0.60	1,997	0.64	9.7

#### TABLE 1: LIFE SCIENCES INDUSTRY EMPLOYMENT IN MARYLAND (BY SECTOR)

\* Note: Concentration measured by location quotient (LQ). If LQ>1, area employment has a larger relative share than it does nationwide. Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics—Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (2020)

Although Maryland has a relatively high concentration of R&D jobs compared with most states, its growth rate in R&D employment from 2015 to 2020 did not keep pace with rates in some other leading states, as shown in **Table 2**. Its life sciences manufacturing sector expanded at one of the fastest rates nationwide, but remains relatively less concentrated than the national average, indicating significant potential for further growth.

STATE	R&D EMP	LOYMENT	MANUFACTURING EMPLOYMENT		
	Concentration 2020*	Growth 2015-2020	Concentration 2020*	Growth 2015-2020	
California	1.78	17.6%	1.47	8.7%	
Maryland	2.61	7.4%	0.95	30.7%	
Massachusetts	4.74	58.1%	1.42	-6.7%	
New Jersey	1.57	5.1%	1.98	4.1%	
North Carolina	1.24	38.3%	1.42	0.3%	
Virginia	1.19	11.8%	0.36	8.6%	

#### TABLE 2: LIFE SCIENCES INDUSTRY EMPLOYMENT ACROSS US STATES (BY SECTOR)

\* Note: Concentration measured by location quotient (LQ). If LQ>1, area employment has a larger relative share than it does nationwide. Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics—Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (2020)

The distribution of life sciences employment across the state remains relatively concentrated. Montgomery County has long been the industry's primary hub due to the presence of the NIH, FDA, and 38 federal labs. As the industry grew, R&D employment spilled over to neighboring Frederick and Howard counties, as shown in **Figure 1**, while the city of Baltimore also started to account for an increasing number of R&D jobs supported by the presence of Johns Hopkins University and the University of Maryland Medical Center.





In addition to institutions of higher education and federal labs, major life sciences firms such as AstraZeneca, Kite, BioNTech, Catalent, Charles River Laboratories, Emergent BioSolutions, Lonza, and Novavax have a substantial presence in Maryland and account for some of the state's highest-paid jobs. Annual incomes in the life sciences average \$128,800 across the state, almost \$60,000 more than the statewide average for all industries (\$68,900).<sup>11</sup>

## NEXT STEPS TO SUPPORT INDUSTRY JOB CREATION

Maryland's life sciences manufacturing and laboratories show significant potential for further expansion, and the state's existing policy architecture provides a foundation for state leaders to develop new, collaborative strategies that expand not only the total number of job opportunities but also their accessibility to state residents. On the industry side, the same companies that develop breakthrough technologies can be enlisted to help identify the skills that an expanded life sciences workforce will require, and on the government side, expanding laboratory and manufacturing space can entice more local innovators and entrepreneurs to remain in Maryland as they expand. Preparing Marylanders to fill these positions will provide an incentive for employers to invest in creating more local jobs in these sectors, particularly since the state can already leverage its extensive assets in the knowledge economy to stimulate additional investment. It can also address some of the main limits on Maryland's attractiveness to venture capital highlighted by prior reports, such as helping coalesce and expand the state's innovation ecosystem, increasing the number of business accelerator spaces, and providing more workers with exposure to career paths in startups.<sup>12</sup>

The remainder of this section reviews two central policy considerations for state leaders: Grow the talent pipeline by improving workforce development and enhance the entrepreneurial ecosystem through greater public-private cooperation.

#### **Grow the Talent Pipeline**

With the state's renowned research universities and numerous federal labs, Maryland has a high concentration of PhD recipients relative to other US states. Overall, Maryland ranks No. 1 in the nation for the concentration of employed doctoral scientists<sup>13</sup> and No. 5 for the number of life sciences PhD holders per capita—ahead of California but behind Massachusetts.<sup>14</sup> A large population of residents with doctoral degrees can spur innovation, but non-degree workers with training in other areas, such as laboratory technology and manufacturing, are also crucial for industry growth. As researchers spin off their innovations to become entrepreneurs and seek to develop new companies, the presence of a technically proficient local workforce is a key consideration for making Maryland an attractive place to do business in the long term. Expanding technical education, training, and certification programs is therefore crucial to growing the state's talent pipeline. Maryland could help satisfy the demand for qualified workers by expanding awareness of these opportunities as well as programming to help develop new pathways in career and technical education.

Attracting workers to these opportunities need not be a daunting challenge. The state's unemployment rate—which counts unemployed individuals who are actively looking and available for work—remained relatively high in June 2021 at 6.2 percent,<sup>15</sup> and overall manufacturing employment had not returned to pre-pandemic levels, with approximately 5,400 fewer employees than in January 2020.<sup>16</sup> In addition to the large supply of available workers, many life sciences manufacturing jobs pay higher wages than the median wages by degree level in the state (the median wage with an associate's degree is \$43,000 and \$31,000 with a high school diploma or equivalent) without requiring a bachelor's or graduate degree, as shown in **Table 3**.<sup>17</sup> And a recent survey of life sciences firms found that more respondents considered an employee's competencies and skills to be very important (59 percent) than a degree from a four-year college (53 percent).<sup>18</sup>

#### MEDIAN **TYPICAL ENTRY-LEVEL** TOTAL **OCCUPATION** ANNUAL **EMPLOYMENT EDUCATION INCOME Clinical laboratory technologists and** 6,900 \$55,100 Bachelor's degree technicians First-line production and operation HS diploma or equivalent 6,070 \$66,600 supervisors 3,670 \$45,900 **Biological technicians** Bachelor's degree Life, physical, and social science technicians, \$61,900 1,750 Associates degree all other Helpers-production workers HS diploma or equivalent 1,500 \$30,400 1,000 \$41,000 Medical equipment preparers HS diploma or equivalent Chemical plant and system operators HS diploma or equivalent 840 \$67,000 520 \$46,700 Chemical equipment operators and tenders HS diploma or equivalent 240 \$47,800 HS diploma or equivalent Medical appliance technicians

#### **TABLE 3:** MARYLAND LIFE SCIENCES INDUSTRY OCCUPATIONS AND EDUCATIONAL REQUIREMENTS

Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics-Occupational Outlook Handbook (2020) and Occupational Employment and Wages (2020)

Programs are needed to equip workers with the skills they need to perform these jobs. Several existing initiatives provide a solid foundation for further growth of the talent pipeline. For example, the Biotechnical Institute of Maryland (BTI) offers a tuition-free Laboratory Associates Program to help participants secure laboratory jobs or paid internships and earn credits toward an associate's degree in biotechnology.<sup>19</sup> The state-funded workforce development grant program, EARN Maryland, establishes industry partnerships to train, educate, and employ workers.<sup>20</sup> And several academic institutions in Montgomery County have partnered to launch a "Bio Boot Camp" for training entry-level workers in local biotechnology companies.<sup>21</sup>

With many companies in Maryland already at the forefront of biomanufacturing,<sup>22</sup> this presents an opportunity for the state to support the development of training programs and facilities to provide workers with skills they need. This advantage, combined with the current boom in biomanufacturing,<sup>23</sup> presents Maryland with a unique opportunity to support the growth of a skilled workforce which would help attract and retain companies in the state.

#### NEXT STEPS FOR STATE LEADERS

- Collaborate on developing an industry-certified training curriculum that maximizes the number of workers capable of meeting existing industry needs and that prepares prospective employees for occupations with future growth potential, particularly jobs that do not require four-year degrees.
- Increase awareness of life sciences career opportunities for residents in peripheral counties through industry skills training extension programs hosted by community colleges.
- Support dedicated training programs and facilities for advanced biomanufacturing, especially cell and gene therapies.

#### **Enhance the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem**

Historically, Maryland has struggled to develop an entrepreneurial ecosystem to rival its counterparts in Massachusetts and California. A disproportionate share of Maryland's doctoral graduates work in federal labs—more than 26 percent, compared with 2 percent in Massachusetts and 3 percent in California<sup>24</sup>—where barriers to commercialization are often higher than in academia or industry.<sup>25</sup> Whereas federal R&D investment in Maryland during 2016 totaled \$115.0 billion, total technology licensing income was just \$179.2 million, representing a return on investment of 0.16 percent.<sup>26</sup> And Maryland ranked No. 18 on the Milken Institute's <u>State Technology and Science</u> Index 2020 for risk capital and entrepreneurial infrastructure—a measure of states' ability to attract venture capital investment, patenting, and business formation—far behind California at No. 1 and Massachusetts at No. 3.<sup>27</sup> The life sciences industry clusters in Boston, the San Francisco Bay Area, and San Diego captured 70 percent of all venture capital investment in the industry in 2019.<sup>28</sup>

Nonetheless, the total volume of life sciences venture capital invested in Maryland over the last five years (\$22.50 per 100,000 residents) compares favorably to other states with a significant industry presence such as New Jersey (\$21.05) and North Carolina (\$11.63), as well as to the US national average (\$20.55).<sup>29</sup> Maryland's universities and federal labs are a tremendous starting point for developing assets for attracting venture capital to the life sciences industry, but government agencies (such as the Maryland Technology Development Corporation [TEDCO]) and institutions of higher education remain the predominant sources of venture capital investments, as shown in **Figure 2**.





Source: PitchBook Data, Inc. (through July 2021)

Although these government agencies and institutions of higher education can play crucially important roles in providing seed funding, experience has demonstrated that the private sector (particularly venture capital) plays a more central role in providing the sustained investment required for life sciences companies to grow. Because these investors seek relatively larger potential rewards and lower risks, ensuring that technologies and talent stay in Maryland could enhance its attractiveness to venture capital, such as by improving workforce development to supply a ready workforce. Unlike other leading states (including California and Massachusetts), Maryland offers a refundable R&D tax credit for small businesses with limited tax liabilities, and the state also provides a Biotechnology Investment Incentive Tax Credit designed to expand funding available to firms that are less than 10 years old and have fewer than 50 full-time employees.<sup>30</sup> Existing programs available through the Maryland Innovation Initiative and the Maryland Stem Cell Research Fund also support the commercialization of research.

Another significant need facing many entrepreneurs and startups is access to physical infrastructure that can help them move from R&D to demonstration and testing. Interviews with stakeholders across Maryland's life sciences industry indicated that a relatively limited amount of laboratory and manufacturing space<sup>31</sup> is a significant constraint on the state's ability to incubate the growth of local firms (as discussed in the previous section). Technology incubators such as the Johns Hopkins University Technology Ventures initiative have made important strides in this area.<sup>32</sup> Nonetheless, there are relatively few manufacturing spaces in Maryland available to support early-stage commercialization, and working with contract development and manufacturing organizations (CDMOs) can often be prohibitively expensive.<sup>33</sup>

Counties adjacent to Washington, DC, and metro Baltimore not only have the highest concentration of scientific R&D activity but are also the site of most life sciences manufacturing, with additional activity extending into Washington and Anne Arundel counties as well as Talbot County on the Eastern Shore, as shown in **Figure 3**. Although most of Maryland's more rural counties have few connections to the life sciences industry, they play much larger roles in the state's overall manufacturing activities. These regions include Caroline, Cecil, Dorchester, Kent, Queen Anne's, Somerset, and Wicomico counties on the Eastern Shore as well as Allegany and Garrett counties in Western Maryland, as shown in **Figure 4**.



Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics—Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (2020)

Several existing incentives already support industry expansion in these regions: the Biotechnology Investor Incentive Tax Credit currently provides tax credits of up to 33 percent for eligible investments in a qualifying company and up to \$250,000 or 50 percent for investments up to \$500,000 in specific counties (Allegany, Dorchester, Garrett, and Somerset); enhanced tax credits are also available for investments in Opportunity Zones.<sup>34</sup> Moreover, Maryland's affordability relative to other life sciences hubs offers a potentially significant advantage for companies scaling up and needing additional space. In 2020, average rents for life sciences companies in Maryland were \$28.85 per square foot, or less than half the cost for similar companies in San Francisco (\$58.30) and Boston (\$69.31).<sup>35</sup> Taken together, these incentives provide a strong rationale for expanding hiring in counties outside the industry's existing core.

#### NEXT STEPS FOR STATE LEADERS

- Evaluate the feasibility of matching private funds raised by institutions of higher education to establish technology incubators and provide early-stage companies with greater resources—particularly lab and manufacturing space—that will support local job creation. These efforts could parallel the Maryland E-Nnovation Initiative Fund's matching support for endowed university chairs.<sup>36</sup>
- Explore the viability of additional region-specific incentives targeting the conversion of existing commercial or industrial spaces for use in small-scale, modular life sciences manufacturing.

## FINAL CONSIDERATIONS: A MORE STRATEGIC APPROACH

Prior initiatives, including the Excel Maryland development strategy focused on the life sciences, have established the value of a more coherent approach to pursuing growth by leveraging the state's existing assets.<sup>37</sup> The next steps outlined above are largely tactical measures that merit additional consideration for their ability to attract investment and stimulate job creation in the life sciences industry. However, it is still important for state leaders to consider strategies for adopting best practices that have been successful elsewhere, particularly in the face of increased competition from other states:

- Massachusetts has fostered one of the nation's strongest life sciences industries by implementing multiple initiatives that have been specifically designed to support investment across the state. For example, MassDevelopment deployed its Brownfields Redevelopment Fund to convert a former General Electric campus in Pittsfield to the Berkshire Innovation Center,<sup>38</sup> and the Massachusetts Biotechnology Council has developed a BioReady rating system to evaluate municipal zoning and infrastructure as a means of helping life sciences companies find the most favorable destination in the state.<sup>39</sup>
- North Carolina's strong connection between industry and institutions of higher education has helped firms recruit and hire local residents. For example, the BioWork community college initiative trains process technicians in biotechnology, pharmaceutical, or chemical manufacturing<sup>40</sup> and the Biomanufacturing Training and Education Center at North Carolina State University provides training in biomanufacturing technologies, ensuring that program graduates have the requisite skills while minimizing the time and costs incurred by industry when taking on new hires.<sup>41</sup>

• Pennsylvania has successfully demonstrated that existing facilities can be converted to expand the state's life sciences manufacturing capacity. In Philadelphia, the former Budd Company Hunting Park auto and train parts plant is slated for redevelopment as the Budd Bioworks.<sup>42</sup> And in King of Prussia, the Center for Breakthrough Medicines is being developed as a CDMO through partnerships among Discovery Labs, GlaxoSmithKline, WuXi Biologics, and the University of Pennsylvania Gene Therapy Program.<sup>43</sup>

Using these examples, Maryland's state leaders should focus on developing—and executing strategies that can help sustain the state's identity as a leader in the life sciences industry by enhancing the entrepreneurial ecosystem through greater investment in early-stage life sciences companies, increasing the amount of manufacturing and lab space available to entrepreneurs and startup firms, and expanding the size of its innovation-ready workforce.

The state already has considerable assets, particularly the large volume of new technologies generated through research by academics, federal labs, and the private sector. And Maryland's prominent role in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic—from testing and analysis of data to the development, manufacturing, and distribution of treatments and vaccines—clearly demonstrated the value of these assets. Pursuing new opportunities for job creation in Maryland's life sciences industry will require using these assets to support even greater collaboration among industry, government, academic, and nonprofit leaders. And a more cohesive strategy—such as the broad range of place-based initiatives found in other states—can enhance the life sciences industry's growth trajectory and further increase the number of job opportunities available to residents across the state.

## **ENDNOTES**

- 1. "Maryland E-Nnovation Initiative Fund," Maryland Department of Commerce, accessed August 19, 2021, https://commerce.maryland.gov/fund/maryland-e-nnovation-initiative-fund-(meif).
- 2. Alex Philippidis, "Top 10 US Biopharma Clusters," *Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News*, March 10, 2021, https://www.genengnews.com/topics/drug-discovery/top-10-u-s-biopharma-clusters-8/.
- 3. "BioHealth & Life Sciences," Maryland.gov, accessed August 8, 2021, <u>https://open.maryland.gov/</u>industries/biohealth/.
- 4. "National Institutes of Health (NIH) Funding: FY1996–FY2022," Congressional Research Service, June 29, 2021, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43341.pdf.
- 5. "NIH-Funded Tool Helps Organizations Plan COVID-19 Testing," National Institutes of Health, December 7, 2020, <u>https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/</u>nih-funded-tool-helps-organizations-plan-covid-19-testing.
- 6. Alex Keown, "Billions Pour into BioHealth Capital Region to Battle COVID-19," *BioBuzz*, November 10, 2020, https://biobuzz.io/billions-pour-into-biohealth-capital-region-to-battle-covid-19/
- 7. Jeff Clabaugh, "The Big Business That COVID-19 Has Boosted in Montgomery County," WTOP News, April 26, 2021, <u>https://wtop.com/business-finance/2021/04/</u> the-big-business-covid-has-boosted-in-montgomery-county/.
- 8. Milken Institute analysis of US Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020).
- 9. The life science industry's impact on Maryland's economy also includes indirect support for employment by contract manufacturers and suppliers of key inputs as well as a broad range of service industry jobs. When these are considered, the bioscience industry supported a total of 117,600 jobs in 2018. See "Maryland. The Bioscience Economy: Propelling Life-Saving Treatments, Supporting State & Local Communities," *Teconomy Partners LLC and Biotechology Innovation Organization*, 2019, <u>https://www.bio.org/sites/default/files/2020-06/BIO2020-report.pdf</u>.
- 10. The US Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) does not specifically distinguish between scientific R&D employment in specific fields (such as life sciences, physical sciences, or engineering). As such, employment in the fields of biotechnology and nanotechnology are included here as a type of proxy for the broader life sciences industry.
- 11. Milken Institute analysis of US Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020)
- 12. "Excel Maryland 2017: Getting to Number 1," Maryland Economic Development Corporation, August 2017.
- 13. "BioHealth & Life Sciences," Maryland.gov, accessed August 8, 2021, https://open.maryland.gov/industries/biohealth/.
- 14. Milken Institute analysis of National Science Foundation Survey of Earned Doctorates (2018).
- 15. "Unemployment Rates for States," US Bureau of Labor Statistics, accessed August 18, 2021,

https://www.bls.gov/web/laus/laumstrk.htm.

- 16. "State and Area Employment, Hours, and Earnings," (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2021), <u>https://data.bls.gov/timeseries/SMS2400000300000001?amp%253bdata\_tool=XGtable&output\_</u> view=data&include\_graphs=true.
- 17. Milken Institute analysis of American Community Survey Public Use Microdata Sample (2019).
- "2021 Life Sciences Workforce Trends Report" (TEConomy Partners and Coalition of State Bioscience Institutes, June 2021), <u>https://mdtechcouncil.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/csbi-workforce-report.</u> pdf.
- 19. "Laboratory Associates Program," BioTechnical Institute of Maryland, accessed August 19, 2021, <a href="https://btiworks.org/our-programs/laboratory-associates-program/">https://btiworks.org/our-programs/laboratory-associates-program/</a>.
- 20. "EARN Maryland: Industry-Led Partnerships," Maryland Department of Labor, accessed August 19, 2021, https://www.dllr.state.md.us/earn/earnwhatisearn.shtml.
- 21. Sarah Hansen, "UMBC Launches Biotech Boot Camp to Train Workers Displaced by COVID-19 for In-Demand Jobs," University of Maryland-Baltimore County, February 25, 2021, <u>https://news.umbc.edu/</u> <u>umbc-launches-biotech-boot-camp-to-train-workers-displaced-by-covid-19-for-in-demand-jobs/</u>.
- 22. Chris Frew, "Why Advanced Biomanufacturing in Maryland is a Thriving Industry," *BioBuzz*, 2020, <u>https://</u>biobuzz.io/why-advanced-biomanufacturing-in-maryland-is-a-thriving-industry/.
- 23. Patrick Sisson, "Why the Boom in Biomanufacturing Is Just Getting Started," *BisNow*, June 10, 2021, <a href="https://www.bisnow.com/national/news/life-sciences/why-the-boom-in-biomanufacturing-is-just-getting-started-109187">https://www.bisnow.com/national/news/life-sciences/why-the-boom-in-biomanufacturing-is-just-getting-started-109187</a>.
- 24. Milken Institute analysis of American Community Survey 1-Year Public Use Microdata Sample (2019).
- 25. "Advancing Commercialization of Digital Products from Federal Laboratories," The National Academies Press, 2021, <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/26006/advancing-commercialization-of-digital-products-from-federal-laboratories;</u> "Government in the Innovation Economy: Finding Untapped Value by Transforming Federal Technology Transfer," Deloitte, 2018, <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/public-sector/articles/federal-technology-transfer-innovation-economy.html</u>; "For the Competitiveness of the Nation and the Prosperity of the Region: Improving Technology Commercialization and Localizing the Impact of Federal Laboratories in the Greater Washington Region" (Maryland Life Sciences Advisory Board Task Force on Federal Commercialization Opportunities, June 14, 2018), <u>https://www.montgomerycountymd.gov/COUNCIL/Resources/Files/REPORTS/LSAB\_Darmody\_Report.pdf.</u>
- 26. "Federal Laboratory Technology Transfer" (National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2016), <u>https://</u>www.nist.gov/document/fy2015fedttreportpdf.
- 27. Kevin Klowden, Aaron Melaas, Charlotte Kesteven, and Sam Hanigan, "State Technology and Science Index 2020" (Milken Institute, November 2020), <u>https://milkeninstitute.org/report/</u>state-technology-and-science-index-2020.
- 28. "2020 Life Sciences Real Estate Outlook" (JLL, 2020) https://www.us.jll.com/en/trends-and-insights/

research/life-sciences-real-estate-outlook.

- 29. Milken Institute analysis of PitchBook Data, Inc. (2021) and Census Bureau population estimates (2019).
- 30. "Business Tax Credits," Comptroller of Maryland, accessed August 19, 2021, <u>https://www.marylandtaxes.</u> gov/business/tax-credits.php.
- 31. The Milken Institute engaged with various stakeholders in Maryland's life sciences industry to evaluate prior performance and identify key challenges and areas of opportunity
- 32. "FastForward," Johns Hopkins Technology Ventures, accessed July 30, 2021, <u>https://ventures.jhu.edu/</u> programs-services/fastforward/.
- 33. Gian-Carlo Walker, Eduard Viladesau, Hob Brooks, and Elliot Vaughn, "What's Next for CDMOs after COVID-19?" BCG, March 4, 2021, <u>https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/</u> the-four-critical-steps-for-cdmos-post-covid-19.
- 34. "Biotechnology Investment Incentive Tax Credit," Maryland Department of Commerce, accessed August 19, 2021, https://commerce.maryland.gov/fund/programs-for-businesses/bio-tax-credit.
- 35. "2020 Life Sciences Real Estate Outlook" (JLL, 2020) <u>https://www.us.jll.com/en/trends-and-insights/</u>research/life-sciences-real-estate-outlook.
- 36. "Maryland E-Nnovation Initiative Fund," Maryland Department of Commerce, accessed August 19, 2021, https://commerce.maryland.gov/fund/maryland-e-nnovation-initiative-fund-(meif).
- 37. Jonathan Aberman, "Building Entrepreneurial Innovation in the Greater Washington Region: A Report to the 2030 Group," Amplifier Advisors, May 18, 2017, <u>https://commerce.maryland.gov/media/</u> governor-larry-hogan-announces-excel-maryland-initiative-to-grow-life-sciences-and-cyber-startups;
- 38. "Brownfields Redevelopment Fund: Annual Report" (MassDevelopment, 2020), <u>https://www.</u>massdevelopment.com/assets/pdfs/annual-reports/brownfields\_annualreport\_2020.pdf.
- 39. "BioReady Communities," MassBio, accessed August 25, 2021, <a href="https://www.massbio.org/initiatives/bioready-communities/">https://www.massbio.org/initiatives/</a> bioready-communities/.
- 40. "BioNetwork: The Life Science Training Initiative of the North Carolina Community College System," accessed August 25, 2021, https://www.ncbionetwork.org/.
- 41. "Biomanufacturing Training and Education Center," North Carolina State University, accessed August 25, 2021, <a href="https://www.btec.ncsu.edu/index.php">https://www.btec.ncsu.edu/index.php</a>.
- 42. Zoe Rosenberg, "Budd plant to be redeveloped as life sciences hub," *The Philadelphia Inquirer*, August 6, 2021, https://www.inquirer.com/business/biotech-lab-manufacturing-budd-plant-20210809.html.
- 43. "The Discovery Labs Signs Foundational Lease with the University of Pennsylvania Gene Therapy Program as Anchor Tenant," Discovery Labs, May 25, 2021, <u>https://thediscoverylabs.com/press/the-discovery-labs-signs-foundational-lease-with-the-university-of-pennsylvania-gene-therapy-program-as-anchor-tenant/</u>

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Maryland Technology Council for its technical support in the completion of this policy brief, as well as the academic, nonprofit, private, and public sector leaders (particularly members of the Maryland Technology Council Advisory Board) who shared their time, experience, and perspectives to help complete this analysis. They also give special thanks to Milken Institute colleagues Matt Horton, Samuel Hanigan, and Joyce Yun for their assistance in completing this brief. All errors and omissions are attributed to the authors.

## **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

Alissa Dubetz is a policy analyst at the Milken Institute's Center for Regional Economics. Her research covers a wide range of regional economic development issues, including those related to infrastructure, housing, small business support, and workforce development. Before joining the Milken Institute, Dubetz was a senior research associate at an economic consulting firm, where her research centered on quantifying the economic and fiscal impacts of policy initiatives and legislation, education and universities, and industry employment and development across California and the United States. Dubetz holds a master's degree in economics from the University of Southern California, where she focused on macroeconomic theory and economic development, and a bachelor's degree in economics and Middle East studies.

**Charlotte Kesteven** is a senior policy analyst at the Center for Regional Economics. Her research is centered on regional economic, infrastructure, and workforce development. Before joining the Milken Institute, Kesteven was an economist at the Victorian Government Department of Treasury and Finance in Melbourne, Vic., Australia, where she advised the treasurer on education policy and workforce development issues. Kesteven has also worked as a consultant, conducting research in economic development, infrastructure, urban planning, and demographic forecasting for local, state, and federal government clients in Australia and New Zealand. Kesteven holds a master's degree in economics from the University of New England (Australia), where her research focused on the economic impacts of deregulation, and a bachelor's from the Australian National University, where she majored in international business and Spanish.

**Aaron Melaas** is an associate director at the Center for Regional Economics, where he leads research and programming on knowledge-based economic development and international trade and exports. Before joining the Milken Institute, he worked with McLarty Associates, a global strategic advisory firm based in Washington, DC, where he helped corporate clients navigate trade and investment challenges through commercial diplomacy. He has authored and/or contributed to research published by the Center for a New American Security, Inter-American Dialogue, Tufts University, Woodrow Wilson Center for International Scholars, and the World Resources Institute. He is concurrently a PhD candidate in international relations at the Fletcher School at Tufts, where he is completing his dissertation on industry association advocacy and innovation policy in Latin America. He also holds a bachelor's degree in international politics and a master's degree in Latin American studies from the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University.



SANTA MONICA | WASHINGTON | NEW YORK | LONDON | ABU DHABI | SINGAPORE